
UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRI CT OF MISSOURI  

EASTERN DIVISI ON 
 
JOYCE M. HALL,    )    
      )  
               Plaint iff,     )  
      )  
          vs.     )   Case No. 4: 14-CV-714-CEJ 
      )   
CAROLYN W. COLVI N, Act ing  )  
Commissioner of Social Secur ity, )  
      )  
               Defendant .   )  
 

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER  

 This mat ter is before the Court  for review of an adverse ruling by the Social 

Security Adm inist rat ion. 

I . Procedural H istory  

On Apr il 29, 2011, plaint iff Joyce M. Hall f iled applicat ions for disability 

insurance benefits, Tit le I I , 42 U.S.C. §§ 401, et  seq., and supplemental security  

income, Tit le XVI , 42 U.S.C. §§ 1381, et  seq., with an alleged onset  date of 

September 26, 2009.  (Tr. 123–29)   After plaint iff’s applicat ion was denied on init ial 

considerat ion (Tr. 73–78) , she requested a hearing from an Administ rat ive Law 

Judge (ALJ) .  (Tr. 81–82)   Plaint iff and counsel appeared for a hearing on 

September 24, 2012.  (Tr. 31–48)   The ALJ issued a decision denying plaint iff’s 

applicat ion on October 18, 2012.  (Tr. 9–26)   Plaint iff requested the Appeals Council 

reverse the ALJ’s decision and remand for  a new hear ing.  (Tr. 7–8)   The Appeals 

Council denied plaint iff’s request  for review on March 4, 2014.  (Tr. 1–4)   

Accordingly, the ALJ’s decision stands as the Commissioner’s final decision. 

I I . Evidence Before the ALJ  

A.  Disabilit y Applicat ion Docum ents  
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Plaint iff was born on May 9, 1957.  (Tr. 123)   She is m arr ied and has no 

dependents.  (Tr. 124)   She filed for workers compensat ion in 2006, but  that  claim  

was denied.  I d.  She also filed a previous claim  for disability benefits, which was 

denied on September 29, 2009.  (Tr. 49–59)  

Plaint iff completed a Funct ion Report  on May 10, 2011.  (Tr. 144–54)   She 

described her daily act iv it ies as follows:   “ [ I ]  get  up at  6: 30 A.M.  I  wash up and 

eat  breakfast , drop [ my]  granddaughter off at  school and then go to the arthrit is 

class at  the Y[ MCA] .  [ I ]  come back[ ,]  rest , watch TV, get  [ the]  mail, check on 

[ my]  sister, prepare dinner, watch [ a]  soap opera, then t ry to remember to take 

[ my]  med[ icat ions] . .  . .  [ I  am i] n bed by 10: 00 but  back up by m idnight  and then 

it ’s up [ and]  down all night .”   I d.  Plaint iff cared for her granddaughter, which 

included dropping her off at  school and picking her up.  (Tr. 145)   She also cared 

for a dog, though she was seeking a new home for it  because she “can’t  do [ the]  

upkeep for him .”   I d.  

According to plaint iff, her condit ions have left  her unable to cook large meals, 

walk on her t readm ill, r ide a bike, lift  weights, watch television without  falling 

asleep, or dr ive or type for long per iods of t ime.  I d.  She reported waking up at  

night  with pain, which somet imes resulted in her being unable to sleep all night  

long.  I d.   She also reported that  she had some diff iculty dressing because her 

fingers cramp;  it  was also diff icult  for her to bathe herself, such that  she lim ited  

showering to twice weekly, opt ing for sponge baths on other days.  I d.  Her joints 

also st iffened up after she lies down at  night .  I d.  She occasionally exper ienced 

incont inence.  I d.  
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Plaint iff prepared her own meals, took medicat ion and groomed herself 

without  rem inders, and she was able to wash dishes, iron clothes, and change bed 

linens.  (Tr. 146)   She was unable to bend and stoop to do yardwork, though she 

went  outside nearly every day, somet imes driv ing herself to the store or to pick up 

medicat ions, as needed.  (Tr. 147)   Plaint iff reported that  she experiences anxiety 

and hand cramping when at tempt ing to dr ive long distances, so she avoided 

highways and driv ing at  night .  (Tr. 147, 149)   She was able to pay bills and 

manage her finances without  assistance.  I d.  She watched television and used 

Facebook daily.  (Tr. 148)   She regularly v isited her sister, went  to church, 

at tended the YMCA and neighborhood meet ings, went  to the doctor, and talked to 

fr iends on the phone.  I d. 

 Plaint iff claims that  she has diff iculty lift ing, squat t ing, bending, standing, 

walking, sit t ing, kneeling, clim bing stairs, remembering things, complet ing tasks, 

concent rat ing, and using her hands.  (Tr. 149)   Specifically, she has diff iculty 

remembering where she places certain things, and her hands cramp up when she 

performs certain tasks at  length.  I d.  She also complains of “back spasms,”  “ joint  

st iffness,”  “aching,”  and “blurred vision”  at  t imes.  I d.   Consequent ly, plaint iff 

reported that  she can only walk “half of [ a]  block and back”  before needing to rest .  

I d.  She claims that  st ress causes her “anxiety.”   (Tr. 150)  

 Plaint iff ut ilizes a back brace and a hand splint , as well as glasses.  I d.  She 

claimed to use the hand splint  only while in bed, and the back brace only when 

“doing dishes and when having pain.”   I d.  She also asserts that  if she is “very 

act ive”  dur ing the day, she will then have a “back spasm”  when she t r ies to sleep.  

(Tr. 151)   She also claimed to suffer from left -side facial pain, which she rubs “a 
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lot .”   I d.  For her condit ions, plaint iff reported taking Am lodipine,1 Naproxen,2 

Alprazolam  (Xanax) ,3 and Dexilant  (Lansoprazole) .4  

I n a Disabilit y Report , plaint iff listed her medical condit ions as follows:   

“Hand, back, and knee problems;  osteoarthr it is in back, knees, [ and]  severe in 

hands;  severe bilateral hand pain, st iffness, [ and]  cramping;  bilateral loss of gr ip 

[ with]  a thumb t rem or;  [ status post -operat ion for]  wr ist  surgery [ in 2008 and]  

knee surgery [ in 2008] ;  carpal tunnel syndrome;  knee pain [ and]  immobility;  back 

pain [ and]  im mobilit y;  anxiety [ and]  panic at tacks;  drop[ ping]  things without  

warning;  [ and]  residual facial pain from surgery.”   (Tr. 164)    

Plaint iff had a mass on her salivary gland in 2009, which was surgically 

excised on January 27, 2010.  (Tr. 168)   She also had wr ist  surgery in November 

2008 and knee surgery in August  2006, for which she received cort isone5 inject ions.  

(Tr. 171)   Plaint iff also part icipates in “water aerobics”  for her ar thrit is.  (Tr. 174)  

                                           
1“Am lodipine is used alone or in com binat ion with other m edicat ions to t reat  high blood pressure and 
chest  pain (angina) .  Am lodipine is in a class of medicat ions called calcium  channel blockers.  I t  lowers 
blood pressure by relaxing the blood vessels so the heart  does not  have to pum p as hard.  I t  cont rols 
chest  pain by increasing the supply of blood to the heart .”   
ht tp: / / www.nlm .nih.gov/ m edlineplus/ druginfo/ m eds/ a692044.htm l  ( last  visited July 13, 2015) . 

2Error ! Main Docum ent  Only. Naproxen is the generic nam e for Naprosyn, a nonsteroidal ant i-
inflam m atory drug used for relief of the signs and sym ptom s of tendonit is and pain m anagem ent .  See 
Phys. Desk Ref. 2769-70 (60th ed. 2006) . 

3“Alprazolam  is used to t reat  anxiety disorders and panic disorder (sudden, unexpected at tacks of 
ext rem e fear and worry about  these at tacks) .  Alprazolam  is in a class of m edicat ions called 
benzodiazepines. I t  works by decreasing abnorm al excitement  in the brain.”   
ht tp: / / www.nlm .nih.gov/ m edlineplus/ druginfo/ m eds/ a684001.htm l  ( last  visited July 13, 2015) . 

4“Prescript ion lansoprazole is used to t reat  gast roesophageal reflux disease (GERD) , a condit ion in 
which backward flow of acid from  the stom ach causes heartburn and possible injury of the esophagus 
( the tube between the throat  and stom ach) .”   
ht tp: / / www.nlm .nih.gov/ m edlineplus/ druginfo/ m eds/ a695020.htm l  ( last  visited July 13, 2015) . 

5“Hydrocort isone is sim ilar to a natural horm one produced by [ the]  adrenal glands.  I t  is used to t reat , 
but  not  cure, certain forms of arthr it is;  asthm a;  and skin, blood, kidney, eye, thyroid, and intest inal 
disorders.”   ht tp: / / www.nlm .nih.gov/ m edlineplus/ druginfo/ m eds/ a682871.htm l  ( last  visited July 13, 
2015) . 
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I n a Disability Report  Appeal completed on June 21, 2011, plaint iff 

complained that  she experiences cramps on the left  side of her head, and back and 

neck pain “ that [ ’] s unbearable when holding [ her]  head down for a while.”   (Tr. 

183)   She had begun taking 50 mg of Savella6 twice daily, which she claimed 

caused her to have “hot  f lashes, headaches, fat igue, weird dreams,”  and m ade her 

fall asleep quickly but  not  be able to remain asleep.  I d.  She had discont inued her 

Xanax, and she suffered from dry mouth and cont inued to suffer from anxiety.  I d.  

Plaint iff also complained that  she was cooking less and was more fat igued, and her 

appet ite had decreased while at  the same t ime she was thirsty more often.  (Tr. 

187, 190)   She also claimed that  she was suffering from acid reflux, for which she 

was prescribed Nexium; 7 she was also given a prescript ion for Meclizine8 for  

dizziness.  (Tr. 193)  

Plaint iff’s past  relevant  work was as a cler ical worker for the Nat ional 

Archives and Records Administ rat ion (NARA) , a posit ion she held from 1987 unt il 

2007.  (Tr. 133–39, 155)   Her other past  relevant  work was as a store cashier from 

1999 unt il 2002.  (Tr. 155)   As a clerical worker, plaint iff was required to t ype, 

answer telephones, examine m ilitary records, redact  Social Security numbers, 

search for and copy specific documents, and t ransport  f iles.  (Tr. 156)   She would 

sit  for approximately seven hours out  of an eight -hour workday.  I d.  The heaviest  

                                           
6“Error ! Main Docum ent  Only. Savella is the brand nam e for Milnacipran, a select ive serotonin and 
norepinephrine re-uptake inhibitor indicated for the m anagem ent  of fibrom yalgia.”   
ht tp: / / www.nlm .nih.gov/ m edlineplus/ druginfo/ m eds/ a609016.htm l  ( last  visited July 13, 2015) . 

7Nexium  is a brand nam e for “Esom eprazole, [ which]  is used to t reat  gast roesophageal reflux disease 
(GERD) , a condit ion in which backward flow of acid from  the stom ach causes heartburn and possible 
injury of the esophagus ( the tube between the throat  and stom ach) .”   
ht tp: / / www.nlm .nih.gov/ m edlineplus/ druginfo/ m eds/ a699054.htm l ( last  visited July 13, 2015) . 

8“Meclizine is used to prevent  and t reat  nausea, vom it ing, and dizziness caused by m ot ion sickness.”   
ht tp: / / www.nlm .nih.gov/ m edlineplus/ druginfo/ m eds/ a682548.htm l ( last  visited July 13, 2015) . 
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weight  she lifted was twenty pounds, and she frequent ly lifted up to ten pounds.  

I d.  Her work as a store cashier was not  substant ially different .  (Tr. 157)  

Plaint iff stated that  she stopped working on February 2, 2007, “ [ b] ecause of 

[ her]  condit ion(s) .”   (Tr. 165)   Though she wrote that  she only completed the 

second grade, it  is apparent  that  this was an error and that  she meant  to say she 

completed the twelfth grade.  Plaint iff did not  at tend special educat ion classes.  I d.   

She has specialized computer t raining in Microsoft  Word and Excel.  I d.  

B.  Test im ony at  the Hear ing  

On September 24, 2012, the ALJ held a hearing, which plaint iff and her 

counsel at tended.  (Tr. 31–48)   Plaint iff was fift y- five years old at  the t ime of the 

hearing.  (Tr. 34–35)   She had two adult  children.  (Tr. 39–40)   She graduated 

from high school, and she had two years of college educat ion, for which she holds a 

cert if icate of f ine ar ts.  (Tr. 35)  

Plaint iff worked for the NARA for nineteen years.  (Tr. 36)   She was 

term inated because she “couldn’t  do the product ion.”   I d.   Plaint iff test if ied that  

after she did not  make her product ion quota, she was placed on a “performance 

plan,”  after which her employer t ransferred her to a posit ion in the mail room.  (Tr. 

36–37)   Later, her employer decided to “ reinvent [ ]  the work system,”  after which it  

t ransferred her back to her original posit ion, where she again could not  meet  her 

product ion quota, and she was term inated.  (Tr. 36)    

Plaint iff test if ied that  she was suffering from depression during the t ime she 

was employed.  (Tr. 38)   She also test ified that  she cont inues to suffer from 

depression, and she has also developed anxiety.  I d.  I n 2010, plaint iff developed 
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inner ear nerve damage, which caused episodes of dizziness and loss of balance.  

I d.  She was given exercises to perform  twice daily for the condit ion.  (Tr. 47)  

Plaint iff was taking Meclizine for her inner ear condit ion, but  she test if ied that  

the medicat ion was “not  really”  helpful.  (Tr. 39, 47)   She also test if ied that  she 

“always suffer[ ed]  from depression,”  but  it  had grown worse after her mother died.  

I d.  She claimed that  she had been seeing Dr. McKinney, a psychologist , “ [ e] very 

two weeks on a Friday,”  since October 2009.  (Tr. 41, 47)   Plaint iff also saw Dr. 

Dara, a pr imary care physician, who first  prescribed her Xanax for depression;  Dr. 

Dara later withdrew that  prescript ion in favor of Savella to t reat  both plaint iff’s 

fibromyalgia pain and depression.  (Tr. 41–42)   According to plaint iff, the Savella is 

not  effect ive at  t reat ing her depression.  (Tr. 42)  

Plaint iff test if ied that  she somet imes cooked simple meals, but  she admit ted 

that  she and her fam ily frequent ly eat  fast  food brought  home by her husband.  I d.   

Her husband and oldest  daughter are responsible for cleaning dishes, while her 

husband vacuums, sweeps, and does the laundry.  I d.  Plaint iff test if ied that  she 

cares for her f ive-  and six-year-old grandchildren.  (Tr. 43)   She somet imes at tends 

church.  I d.  She spends her day watching television, sleeping, talk ing on the 

phone, caring for her grandchildren, and checking on her disabled sister.  I d.  

Plaint iff test if ied that  she does the fam ily’s grocery shopping, which requires 

that  she dr ive to the store;  her husband unloads grocer ies when she returns home.  

(Tr. 44)   She also test if ied that  at  least  some of the t ime she walks through the 

store, loads a cart  with groceries, and loads them in her car by herself.  I d.  She 

has no t rouble dr iv ing to the store, which is close to her home.  (Tr. 45)   She also 

visits her sister at  least  once a month.  I d. 
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Upon quest ioning by counsel, plaint iff test if ied that  she had unspecified 

“depressive symptom s.”   I d.  She claimed to suffer from “anxiety at tacks,”  which 

she “started having . . . again”  after  her mother and mother- in- law died.  I d.   

Plaint iff’s purported anxiety at tacks vary in frequency:   “Somet imes I  can get  two 

or three a week and then the next  week I  m ight  no[ t ]  have any.”   (Tr. 46)   When 

she has an at tack, it  lasts for “ [ m ] aybe five or ten m inutes.”   I d.  She also claimed 

to suffer “crying spells”  once a day, though she could not  state whether they 

occurred more frequent ly than that .  I d.   Plaint iff stated that  she spends most  of 

her t ime at  home in her bedroom by herself.  I d.  

C. Medical Records  

1 . Pre - Applicat ion Records    

Extensive medical records and notes were submit ted regarding plaint iff’s 

benign pleomorphic adenoma, a mass on her left  face.  (Tr. 199)   The ALJ noted 

those records, and the Court  has reviewed them in full.  The Court  lim its its 

discussion of the mass to plaint iff’s status post-surgery. 

On July 28, 2009, plaint iff began a course of physical therapy under the 

supervision of Anna-Katherine Sevic, M.P.T.  (Tr. 499)   She completed sixteen of 

her seventeen scheduled visits.  I d.   When she began therapy, her pain was at  best  

an eight  out  of ten, but  she was able to achieve a zero pain level by the t ime she 

completed therapy on September 4, 2009.  I d.  I n addit ion, plaint iff was able to 

walk for approximately forty- five m inutes and stand to cook or clean for forty- five 

m inutes to one hour without  exper iencing any lower back pain.  I d.  She had 

improved flexibilit y of her lower ext rem it ies and increased tolerance for lumbar 

stabilizat ion exercises.  I d.  
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Clayton Perry, M.D. exam ined plaint iff on November 19, 2009, at  which t ime 

she complained of weakness in her r ight  hand, but  without  numbness.  (Tr. 250)   

She told Dr. Perry that  she “ recent ly has been dropping things,”  and that  her left  

thumb t rembled.  I d.  Plaint iff also had left  knee pain that  was consistent  with 

osteoarthrit is and that  would occur if she sat  for too long or ascended or descended 

stairs.  I d.  However, according to Dr. Perry, plaint iff had no tenderness to 

palpat ion, no muscle wast ing, no subject ive or object ive numbness, and a full range 

of mot ion.  I d.  Moreover, while Dr. Perry’s “ impression [ was]  that  she has [ a]  

feeling that  her hand is weak,”  Dr. Perry was “not  sure if her weakness [ was]  real 

or j ust  perceived.”   I d.  I ndeed, test ing on plaint iff’s r ight  arm  performed on 

December 18, 2009, by Laurence Kinsella, M.D. revealed “no elect r ical evidence of 

a r ight  carpal tunnel syndrome . . .  [ ,]  ulnar neuropathy .  . . [ , or]  cervical 

radiculopathy or other int raspinal canal process.”   (Tr. 252–53)  

Rebecca Brandsted, M.D. examined plaint iff on December 10, 2009.  (Tr. 

199)   Plaint iff had a cough, and Dr. Brandsted diagnosed her with a benign 

pleomorphic adenoma, which plaint iff opted to have removed.  I d.  The mass was 

surgically removed on January 27, 2010.  (Tr. 204, 210)  

On December 21, 2009, plaint iff told Dr. Perry that  her left  hand condit ion 

“may[ ] be a lit t le bit  bet ter.”   I d.  She also had “moderate relief”  after a cort isone 

inject ion, though she “now [ felt ]  as though it  has worn off,”  at  which point  Dr. Perry 

prescribed Euflexxa.9  I d.  Dr. Perry t reated plaint iff on several other occasions from 

November 2009 through January 2010.  (Tr. 247–50)   He ordered a course of 

                                           
9“Euflexxa .  . . is indicated for the t reatment  of pain in osteoarthr it is (OA)  of the knee in pat ients who 
have failed to respond adequately to conservat ive non-pharm acologic therapy and sim ple analgesics 
(e.g., acetam inophen) .”   ht tp: / / www.accessdata.fda.gov/ cdrh_docs/ pdf/ P010029S008c.pdf  ( last  
visited July 14, 2015) . 
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Euflexxa in both knees to address plaint iff’s pain.  I d.   Dr. Perry noted that  plaint iff 

“has no elect r ical evidence of radiculit is or nerve compression on her left  hand[ ,]  

and [ Dr. Perry]  really h[ ad]  no explanat ion for the weakness that  she has.”   (Tr. 

249)  

Dr. Brandsted examined plaint iff on February 4, 2010, for a follow-up to her 

“ left  deep parot idectomy.”   (Tr. 198)   At  that  t ime, plaint iff said that  she had “some 

pain but  it  is get t ing bet ter each day.”   I d.  There was no evidence of infect ion, and 

plaint iff’s facial nerve was completely intact .  I d.  Dr. Brandsted concluded that  

plaint iff “ is doing well.”   I d. 

Dr. Brandsted examined plaint iff on May 10, 2010, a follow-up appointment  

for her “atypical facial pain.”   (Tr. 196)   She complained of pressure below her left  

eye and shoot ing pains in her cheek.  I d.  Plaint iff stated that  she “did not  get  any 

bet ter at  all with the [ P] rednisone10 or ant ibiot ics.”   I d.  However, plaint iff adm it ted 

that  she did not  take the full course of Prednisone.  I d.  Dr. Brandsted noted that  

plaint iff’s CT results and physical exam inat ion were all normal.  I d.  The doctor 

wrote:   “ I  am unsure what  cont inues to cause her facial pain.  She is well healed 

from the surgery . . . .  I  have recommended Motr in 600 mg twice daily and t ry ing 

a bite block.”   I d.  At  another follow-up visit  three days later, Dr. Brandsted added 

that  plaint iff’s exam inat ion was again “normal,”  and the Doctor did “not  think this 

[ pain]  is in any[ ] way related to her parot id mastoid surgery.”   (Tr. 197)  

                                           
10“Prednisone is used alone or with other medicat ions to t reat  the sym ptom s of low cort icosteroid 
levels . . . .  Prednisone is also used to t reat  other condit ions in pat ients with norm al cort icosteroid 
levels.  These condit ions include certain types of arthr it is;  severe allergic react ions;  m ult iple sclerosis 
(a disease in which the nerves do not  funct ion properly) ;  lupus (a disease in which the body at tacks 
m any of it s own organs) ;  and certain condit ions that  affect  the lungs, skin, eyes, kidneys blood, 
thyroid, stom ach, and intest ines.  Prednisone is also som et im es used to t reat  the sym ptom s of certain 
types of cancer.”   ht tp: / / www.nlm .nih.gov/ m edlineplus/ druginfo/ m eds/ a601102.htm l  ( last  visited 
July 14, 2015) . 
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Plaint iff complained of pressure in her left  lateral face on May 20, 2010, but  

records from her v isit  at  St .  Mary’s Health Center showed “no abnormality.”   (Tr. 

204–06, 219)   On August  26, 2010, Dr. Karen Baranski performed an MRI  of 

plaint iff’s brain following plaint iff’s complaints of cont inued facial pain.  (Tr. 223)   

With the except ion of “ low ly ing cerebellar  tonsils,”  the MRI  was “otherwise 

unremarkable.”   I d.  

Dr. Perry exam ined plaint iff three addit ional t imes between April and May of 

2010.  (Tr. 244–46)   At  that  t ime, plaint iff was suffering from  a “mallet  f inger,”  

which Dr. Perry splinted and, by May 20, “seem[ ed]  to have resolved.”   I d.  Dr. 

Perry also exam ined plaint iff at  least  six m ore t imes between July and September of 

2010.  (Tr. 237–43)   She was injected with Euflexxa in both of her knees without  

complicat ions.  I d.  She was also injected with Depo-Medrol,11 Marcaine,12 and 

Lidocaine.13  I d. 

Plaint iff reported to the emergency room on August  13, 2010, complaining of 

r ight  foot  pain.  (Tr. 294)   She had not  at tempted to alleviate her pain with any 

medicat ion.  I d.  She was diagnosed with unspecified gout , had normal alignment  of 

the foot , and the medical personnel noted no acute findings.  (Tr. 296–97)  

On October 21, 2010, and December 15, 2010, plaint iff was seen by Joel 

Riley, M.D. because she was complaining of “abdominal bloat ing”  following a 

                                           
11“Error ! Main Docum ent  Only. Depo-Medrol, or Methylprednisolone, is a cort icosteroid used to 
relieve inflam m at ion.”   ht tp: / / www.nlm .nih.gov/ m edlineplus/ druginfo/ m eds/ a601157.htm l ( last  
visited July 14, 2015) . 

12“Marcaine is indicated for the product ion of local or regional anesthesia or analgesia for surgery, 
dental and oral surgery procedures, diagnost ic and therapeut ic procedures, and for obstet rical 
procedures.”   ht tp: / / dailym ed.nlm .nih.gov/ dailym ed/ drugInfo.cfm ?set id= 67578b56-7540-487e-1fba-
481255620e78  ( last  visited July 14, 2015) . 

13Lidocaine “causes num bness . . . in an area of [ the]  body.  I t  is a local anesthet ic.”   
ht tp: / / www.ncbi.nlm .nih.gov/ pubm edhealth/ PMHT0010944/   ( last  visited July 14, 2015) . 
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diagnosis of gast roesophageal reflux disease (GERD) .  (Tr. 270)   Dur ing her 

physical exam, she was not  in any dist ress, she had no edema, and her abdomen 

was normal.  (Tr. 271)   Dr. Riley found that  plaint iff had “unspecified const ipat ion.”   

(Tr. 274)   On October 27, 2010, plaint iff was diagnosed by David Weinstein, M.D. 

with osteoporosis of the lumbar spine and of the proximal left  femur or femoral 

neck, for which she was advised to begin a Vitam in D regimen.  (Tr. 259–60, 496)   

On January 14 and 28, 2011, plaint iff was evaluated by Juankee McKinney, 

Ph.D., a clinical psychologist .  (Tr. 337, 339–40)   She was anxious, part icular ly 

about  death, but  willing to address her anxiety “more aggressively.”   (Tr. 338–39)   

Dr. McKinney prescribed only addit ional therapy and relaxat ion exercises, not  

medicat ion, to t reat  plaint iff’s anxiety.  (Tr. 338, 340)  

On February 11, 2011, plaint iff again was evaluated by Dr. McKinney.  (Tr. 

335)   She was anxious about  an upcoming MRI .  I d.  Dr. McKinney described 

plaint iff’s prognosis as “good”  and said that  her status was “ improved.”   (Tr. 336)   

Dr. McKinney told her to do relaxat ion exercises and did not  prescribe any 

medicat ion for plaint iff’s psychological sym ptoms.  I d.  

Also on February 11, 2011, Bradley Stockmann, M.D. performed an MRI  on 

plaint iff’s spine.  (Tr. 285)   He found no abnormal marrow signal, and plaint iff’s 

lumbar vertebral body height  and alignment  were normal.  I d.  Plaint iff had “diffuse 

disc bulge[ s] ”  but  “without  significant  cent ral canal narrowing”  and with m ild 

narrowing of the “bilateral neural foram ina”  at  L4-L5 and L5-S1.  I d.  Dr. 

Stockmann diagnosed plaint iff with “ [ m ] ild lumbar spondylosis”  with “m ild 

narrowing of the neural foramen at  L4-L5 and L5-S1.”   I d.  
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On February 25, 2011, plaint iff was again seen by Dr. McKinney.  (Tr. 333)   

She complained that  she was “ feeling ext remely st ressed”  and anxious regarding 

forthcoming MRI  results.  I d.  Though Dr. McKinney noted that  plaint iff was anxious 

and depressed, her prognosis was “good.”   (Tr. 334)   Dr. McKinney prescribed 

further cognit ive therapy, without  any accompanying medicat ion.  I d.  

On March 15, 2011, Dr. James Hoffman, a chiropractor, wrote a let ter 

detailing plaint iff’s t reatment  for a September 30, 2010, “ fall in which injur ies to 

the upper back, m id back[ ,]  and low back were sustained.”   (Tr. 305)   According to 

Dr. Hoffman, plaint iff had thoracic nerve root  compression and st rain or sprain, as 

well as lum bar nerve root  compression and st rain or sprain.  I d.  Her t reatment  for 

those condit ions was “conservat ive,”  merely addit ional physical therapy.  (Tr. 306)  

A few days later, on March 21, Dr. S. Vic Glogovac exam ined plaint iff and 

noted that  she “may have an aberrant  carpal tunnel syndrome,”  which resulted in 

her primary complaint  that  he has a tendency to drop objects, with “morning 

t ingling.”   (Tr. 322)   However, Dr. Glogovac’s test ing of the condit ion was 

“unrevealing.”   I d.  

2 . Post - Applicat i on Records   

On May 5, 2011, plaint iff again saw Dr. McKinney for therapy.  (Tr. 328)   She 

was anxious, but  her appearance and thought  were unremarkable;  she was 

coherent  and logical in her speech;  she had fair j udgment  and good orientat ion, 

average intellect , and normal behavior.  (Tr. 329)   The psychologist ’s narrat ive 

notes of the therapy session are largely illegible, but  it  is apparent  that  the death of 

plaint iff’s mother was one source of anxiety.  (Tr. 330)   Dr. McKinney determ ined 
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that  plaint iff’s prognosis was “good,”  and she prescribed further cognit ive therapy, 

without  any accompanying medicat ion.  I d.  

On June 29, 2011, Dr. McKinney also determ ined that  plaint iff’s prognosis 

was “good,”  and she had “ improved.”   (Tr. 501)   Plaint iff had a good prognosis and 

her condit ion had im proved on October 7, 2011.  (Tr. 505)   The same was t rue on 

October 28 and November 11, 2011, and again on March 2, March 30, Apr il 13, May 

11, May 25, July 14, and August  3, 2012.  (Tr. 507, 509, 515, 519, 521, 525, 528–

29, 531)   According to Dr. McKinney, plaint iff did not  regress in therapy, and she 

was never prescribed any medicat ion for her depression, anxiety, or panic disorder.  

(Tr. 501–31)  

Somet ime in June 2011, plaint iff sprained her left  foot .  (Tr. 346)   She was 

examined several t im es for that  condit ion by Joshua Nadaud, M.D., who noted that  

she has flat  feet .  (Tr. 343–47)   On November 22, 2011, Dr. Nadaud observed that  

plaint iff had “ [ n] o evidence of any depression”  and “no acute dist ress.”   (Tr. 346)  

On November 29, 2011, plaint iff began a course of physical therapy for her 

left  ankle osteoporosis and instabilit y condit ions.  (Tr. 396)   She had nineteen 

sessions with physical therapist  Danielle Cullen.  I d.  During the course of therapy, 

she m issed two appointments.  (Tr. 405)   Though she was noted to have previously  

had a “normal gait  pat tern”  and to have “ improved,”  plaint iff “ reported she has had 

‘no change’ in funct ion and [ that ]  ‘it  st ill hurts.’”   I d.  However, she also said that  

she had “not  been wearing her ankle brace.”   I d.  Cullen observed that , “ [ t ] his 

pat ient  is able to perform  other aggressive, in-house act iv it ies with lit t le to no 

complaints of pain.”   I d.  While her “pain complaints have not  decreased 

significant ly throughout  the course of t reatment ,”  Cullen explained, the object ive 
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indicat ions were that  she had “made significant  improvements with her left  ankle 

[ range of mot ion]  and st rength.”   I d.   By January 27, 2012, plaint iff was discharged 

from all physical therapy;  “ t reatment  was discont inued with a significant  

percentage of the t reatment  goals achieved.”   (Tr. 396)  

On January 31, 2012, Dr. Nadaud observed that  plaint iff has a history of a 

left  ankle sprain with instability and r ight  posterior t ibial tendinit is.  (Tr. 343)   

Plaint iff reported that  “she is get t ing somewhat  bet ter.”   I d.  She had reduced 

swelling, but  she was wearing “ flimsy shoes.”   I d.  Dr. Nadaud advised her to wear 

“more robust  tennis shoes,”  which he indicated would “help her significant ly.”   I d.   

Plaint iff self- reported that  she was making progress and her pain was reduced.  I d.  

Object ively, she had a negat ive “AP drawer test ”  and a negat ive “anterolateral 

rotary instability test .”   I d.  Dr. Nadaud’s assessment  was that  her r ight  posterior 

t ibial tendinit is had resolved, that  she should cont inue physical therapy, that  she 

should wear her lace-up ankle brace on her left  side, and that  she ought  to wear 

bet ter shoes for her left  ankle sprain, which had negat ive instability.  (Tr. 343, 345)  

Plaint iff was again seen by Dr. McKinney on March 11, 2012, when she 

complained of unspecified “pain.”   (Tr. 331)   Dr. McKinney’s notes are diff icult  to 

decipher, but  she indicated that  plaint iff was cont inuing to complain of anxiety.  (Tr. 

332)  

On March 22, 2012, Dr. Brandsted observed that  plaint iff was experiencing a 

chronic cough, and she was having GERD symptoms, for which she had just  

restarted taking Nexium.  (Tr. 348–49)   The doctor noted that  she had not  had any 

recent  facial pain.  (Tr. 348)   Overall, plaint iff’s prognosis was “bet ter.”   (Tr. 349)   

Plaint iff denied any fat igue or depression during that  exam inat ion.  (Tr. 350)   Dr. 
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Brandsted prescribed addit ional Nexium  and a dose of Prednisone for plaint iff’s 

symptoms.  (Tr. 352)  

Plaint iff was exam ined for “dizzy spells”  by Bhajan Dara, M.D. on June 2, 

2012.  (Tr. 431)   Her EKG, chest  x- ray, and CT scans were all negat ive for 

abnormalit ies.  I d.  She was ambulatory.  (Tr. 431)   Though Dr. Dara noted that  

plaint iff has a history of f ibromyalgia, the physician also reported that  plaint iff’s 

“ fam ily tells me that  she is [ a]  worry wart .”   I d.  At  the t ime of that  exam inat ion, 

plaint iff was taking Savella for her f ibromyalgia.  I d.  Dr. Dara prescribed rest  and a 

short - term  dose of Hydrocodone-Acetam inophen14 for plaint iff’s pain.  (Tr. 432)    

The next  day, plaint iff was seen again, and Dr. Dara noted that , “pat ient  

comes in the office with new [ a]  complain[ t ]  each t ime . . . .”   (Tr. 433)   She had 

complained of pain in her left  leg, “which is bet ter now.”   I d.  I n fact , plaint iff had 

been ambulat ing in and out  of bed unassisted since her adm ission.  I d.  She was 

noted to have no fever, shaking, chills, or joint  swelling.  I d.  Plaint iff was observed 

not  to be in any dist ress, and she was discharged.  (Tr. 434–35)  

An MRI  of plaint iff ’s brain performed on June 13, 2012, was also 

unremarkable except  for “m ild nonspecific white mat ter foci”  and a “ [ m ] ild Chiar i I  

malformat ion,” 15 which was observed to have produced “no brainstem signal 

abnormality.”   (Tr. 451)   Algis Babusis, M.D. had reported on June 3 that  plaint iff’s 

Chiar i I  malformat ion previously had been diagnosed, that  there were “no acute 

                                           
14“Hydrocodone and acetam inophen com binat ion is used to relieve m oderate to m oderately severe 
pain.  Acetam inophen is used to relieve pain and reduce fever in pat ients.”   
ht tp: / / www.ncbi.nlm .nih.gov/ pubm edhealth/ PMHT0010590/   ( last  visited July 14, 2015) . 

15“Chiar i m alform at ions (CMs)  are st ructural defects in the cerebellum , the part  of the brain that  
cont rols balance. . . .  Type I  involves the extension of the cerebellar tonsils ( the lower part  of the 
cerebellum )  into the foramen m agnum , without  involving the brain stem . . . .  Type I—which m ay not  
cause sym ptom s—is the m ost  com m on form  of CM.”   
ht tp: / / www.ninds.nih.gov/ disorders/ chiar i/ detail_chiar i.htm   ( last  visited July 14, 2015) . 
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findings,”  and that  the Chiar i I  malformat ion is “often an incidental f inding.”   (Tr. 

456)   On June 25, 2012, plaint iff followed up with Dr. Dara, seeking the results of 

her MRI .  (Tr. 463)   At  that  t ime, plaint iff had no complaints.  I d.  Dr. Dara 

determ ined that  her MRI  was normal and also noted that  plaint iff said she was 

“ looking for a disabilit y reason.”   I d.  

On July 12, 2012, plaint iff was again exam ined by Dr. Brandsted.  (Tr. 440)   

She complained of dizziness that  had begun four weeks earlier.  I d.  She was 

having episodes of dizziness once a week, for several m inutes at  a t ime, result ing in 

unsteady gait .  I d.  But  plaint iff was not  experiencing vert igo.  I d.  At  that  t ime, 

plaint iff denied any depression.  I d.   Her ear exam inat ion was normal.  (Tr. 441)   

Plaint iff was able to move all of her ext rem it ies well, and she had a normal gait .  I d.  

Her MRI  and CT scan of the brain were both negat ive for abnormalit ies.  (Tr. 442)   

Because the “et iology of [ plaint iff’s]  dizziness [ was]  unclear,”  Dr. Brandsted 

prescribed Meclizine to t reat  her condit ion.  I d.  On August  9, 2012, Dr. Brandsted 

noted that  plaint iff’s ENG was reviewed;  it  showed a reduced vest ibular response on 

the r ight  side, indict ing r ight  vest ibular weakness, but  the results were otherwise 

normal.  (Tr. 449)   No addit ional course of t reatment  was prescribed based on the 

ENG results.  I d.  

On July 30, 2012, Charles Francois, M.D. examined plaint iff for  her balance 

condit ion.  (Tr. 458)   Plaint iff complained of “ interm it tent  sensat ion of unsteadiness 

that  began [ in May 2012] .”   I d.   According to plaint iff, her “symptoms tend to last  

j ust  less than a m inute[ ,]  and seem to occur two to three t imes a week.”   I d.  All of 

plaint iff’s test  results were normal except  for a 26%  weakness in her r ight  ear upon 

calor ic test ing.  (Tr. 459–60)  
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Dr. Brandsted examined plaint iff again on August  13, 2012 as a follow-up 

appointment  regarding her cont inuing cough.  (Tr. 443)   Plaint iff “ seem[ ed]  a lit t le 

bet ter,”  and she had not  experienced any recent  facial pain.  I d.  Her cough had 

resolved.  I d.  

On August  20, 2012, Dr. McKinney completed a medical source statement .  

(Tr. 534)   The psychologist  assessed plaint iff’s global assessment  of funct ioning 

(GAF)  at  51, with her highest  GAF score a 55.  I d.  According to Dr. McKinney, 

plaint iff’s anxiety and depression “ interfere with her ability to focus and pay 

at tent ion for a sustained period of t ime,”  though “no psychological test ing ha[ d]  

been performed.”   (Tr. 538)   Dr. McKinney est imated that  plaint iff’s im pairments 

would cause her to m iss work more than four days per month.  I d.  The 

psychologist  reported that  plaint iff’s “panic occurs randomly and [ is]  not  associated 

with any part icular  event .”   I d.   Plaint iff’s “ anxiety and depression inhibit  [ plaint iff]  

from init iat ing and perform ing tasks to complet ion[ ,]  which great ly j eopardizes her 

ability to be successful in work situat ions.”   I d.  Yet , Dr. McKinney did not  order any 

medicat ions to t reat  plaint iff’s condit ion, only further therapy.  I d.  

I I I . The ALJ’s Decision  

I n the decision issued on October 18, 2012, the ALJ made the following 

findings:  

1. Plaint iff last  met  the insured status requirements of the Social Security 
Act  on June 30, 2012. 

 
2. Plaint iff did not  engage in substant ial gainful act iv ity dur ing the period 

from her alleged onset  date of September 26, 2009, through her date 
last  insured of June 30, 2012. 
 

3. Plaint iff has the following severe impairm ents:   (1)  major depression;  
(2)  panic disorder;  (3)  degenerat ive disc disease of the lumbar spine;  
(4)  polyneuropathy;  (5)  atypical facial pain;  and (6)  osteoporosis. 
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4. Plaint iff does not  have an impairment  or combinat ion of impairments 

that  meets or medically equals the severity of one of the listed 
impairments in 20 C.F.R. Part  404, Subpart  P, Appendix 1. 

 
5. Plaint iff has the RFC to perform  light  work as defined in 20 C.F.R. 

§ 404.1567(b) , where she can occasionally climb ramps and stairs but  
never climb ladders, ropes, or scaffolds;  she can frequent ly balance, 
stoop, kneel, crouch, and crawl;  she m ust  avoid all concent rated 
exposure to unprotected heights;  and she can perform  both unskilled 
and sem i-skilled work. 

 
6. Plaint iff is capable of perform ing her past  relevant  work as an archives 

technician.  This work did not  require the performance of work- related 
act iv it ies precluded by her RFC. 

 
7. Plaint iff has not  been disabled within the meaning of the Social 

Security Act  from September 26, 2009, through June 30, 2012, the 
date last  insured. 

 
(Tr. 9–26) . 

I V. Legal Standards  

The Court  must  affirm  the Commissioner’s decision “ if the decision is not  

based on legal error and if there is substant ial evidence in the record as a whole to 

support  the conclusion that  the claim ant  was not  disabled.”   Long v. Chater ,  108 

F.3d 185, 187 (8th Cir. 1997) .  “Substant ial evidence is less than a preponderance, 

but  enough so that  a reasonable m ind m ight  f ind it  adequate to support  the 

conclusion.”   Estes v. Barnhart , 275 F.3d 722, 724 (8th Cir. 2002)  (quot ing Johnson 

v. Apfel, 240 F.3d 1145, 1147 (8th Cir. 2001) ) .  I f, after reviewing the record, the 

Court  finds it  possible to draw two inconsistent  posit ions from the evidence and one 

of those posit ions represents the Commissioner’s findings, the Court  must  affirm  

the decision of the Commissioner.  Buckner v. Ast rue, 646 F.3d 549, 556 (8th Cir.  

2011)  (quotat ions and citat ion om it ted) . 
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To be ent it led to disability benefits, a claimant  must  prove she is unable to 

perform  any substant ial gainful act iv it y due to a medically determ inable physical or 

mental impairment  that  would either result  in death or which has lasted or could be 

expected to last  for at  least  twelve cont inuous months.  42 U.S.C. § 423(a) (1) (D) , 

(d) (1) (A) ;  Pate-Fires v. Ast rue, 564 F.3d 935, 942 (8th Cir . 2009) .  The 

Commissioner has established a five-step process for determ ining whether a person 

is disabled.  See 20 C.F.R. § 404.1520;  Moore v. Ast rue, 572 F.3d 520, 523 (8th 

Cir . 2009) .  “Each step in the disability determ inat ion entails a separate analysis 

and legal standard.”   Lacroix v. Barnhart , 465 F.3d 881, 888 n.3 (8th Cir. 2006) . 

Steps one through three require the claimant  to prove (1)  she is not  

current ly engaged in substant ial gainful act iv ity, (2)  she suffers from a severe 

impairment , and (3)  her disability meets or equals a listed impairment .  Pate-Fires, 

564 F.3d at  942.  I f the claimant  does not  suffer from a listed impairment  or its 

equivalent , the Comm issioner’s analysis proceeds to steps four and five.  I d.  

 APrior to step four, the ALJ must  assess the claimant=s residual funct ioning 

capacity (>RFC=) , which is the most  a claimant  can do despite her lim itat ions.@  

Moore, 572 F.3d at  523 (cit ing 20 C.F.R. '  404.1545(a) (1) ) . “RFC is an 

administ rat ive assessment  of the extent  to which an indiv idual’s medically 

determ inable impairment(s) , including any related symptoms, such as pain, may 

cause physical or  m ental lim itat ions or rest r ict ions that  may affect  his or her 

capacity to do work- related physical and mental act iv it ies.”   Social Securit y Ruling 

(SSR)  96-8p, 1996 WL 374184, * 2.  “ [ A]  claimant ’s RFC [ is]  based on all relevant  

evidence, including the medical records, observat ions by t reat ing physicians and 
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others, and an indiv idual’s own descript ion of [ her]  lim itat ions.”   Moore, 572 F.3d at  

523 (quotat ion and citat ion om it ted) .  

I n determ ining a claimant ’s RFC, the ALJ must  evaluate the claimant ’s 

credibilit y.  Wagner v. Ast rue, 499 F.3d 842, 851 (8th Cir .  2007) ;  Pearsall v. 

Massanari, 274 F.3d 1211, 1217 (8th Cir. 2002) .  This evaluat ion requires that  the 

ALJ consider “ (1)  the claimant ’s daily act iv it ies;  (2)  the durat ion, intensity, and 

frequency of the pain;  (3)  the precipitat ing and aggravat ing factors;  (4)  the 

dosage, effect iveness, and side effects of medicat ion;  (5)  any funct ional 

rest r ict ions;  (6)  the claimant ’s work history;  and (7)  the absence of object ive 

medical evidence to support  the claimant ’s complaints.”   Buckner , 646 F.3d at  558 

(quotat ion and citat ion om it ted) .  “Although ‘an ALJ may not  discount  a claimant ’s 

allegat ions of disabling pain solely because the object ive medical evidence does not  

fully support  them,’ the ALJ may find that  these allegat ions are not  credible ‘if there 

are inconsistencies in the evidence as a whole.’”   I d. (quot ing Goff v. Barnhart , 421 

F.3d 785, 792 (8th Cir . 2005) ) .  After consider ing the seven factors, the ALJ must 

make express credibility determ inat ions and set  forth the inconsistencies in the 

record which caused the ALJ to reject  the claimant ’s complaints.  Singh v. Apfel, 

222 F.3d 448, 452 (8th Cir.  2000) ;  Beckley v. Apfel, 152 F.3d 1056, 1059 (8th Cir.  

1998) . 

At  step four, the ALJ determ ines whether the claimant  can return to her past  

relevant  work, “ review[ ing]  [ the claimant ’s]  [ RFC]  and the physical and mental 

demands of the work [ claimant  has]  done in the past .”   20 C.F.R. § 404.1520(e) .  

The burden at  step four remains with the claimant  to prove his RFC and establish 

that  she cannot  return to her past  relevant  work.  Moore, 572 F.3d at  523;  accord 
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Dukes v. Barnhart ,  436 F.3d 923, 928 (8th Cir.  2006) ;  Vandenboom  v. Barnhart , 

421 F.3d 745, 750 (8th Cir. 2005) . 

I f the ALJ holds at  step four of the process that  a claimant  cannot  return to 

past  relevant  work, the burden shifts at  step five to the Comm issioner to establish 

that  the claim ant  maintains the RFC to perform  a significant  number of jobs within 

the nat ional economy.  Banks v. Massanari, 258 F.3d 820, 824 (8th Cir. 2001) ;  see 

also 20 C.F.R. § 404.1520( f) .  

I f the claimant  is prevented by her impairment  from doing any other work, 

the ALJ will f ind the claimant  to be disabled. 

V. Discussion  

To be ent it led to disability benefits under Tit le I I , plaint iff has the burden of 

showing she was disabled pr ior to June 30, 2012, the date she was last  insured.  

Jenkins v. Colvin, No. 2: 12-CV-91-JAR, 2014 WL 1259771, at  * 2 (E.D. Mo. Mar. 26, 

2014) ;  see also 20 C.F.R. § 404.130;  Moore, 572 F.3d at  522;  Cox v. Barnhart , 471 

F.3d 902, 907 (8th Cir . 2006) .  “Evidence from outside the insured period can be 

used in ‘helping to elucidate a medical condit ion dur ing the t ime for which benefits 

m ight  be rewarded.’”   Cox , 471 F.3d at  907 (quot ing Pyland v. Apfel, 149 F.3d 873, 

876 (8th Cir.  1998) ) .  However, to be ent it led to Tit le I I  benefits, plaint iff must  

prove she was disabled before her insurance expired.  I d.  

Plaint iff asserts that  the ALJ erred (1)  when he determ ined that  plaint iff has 

the RFC to perform  light , sem i-skilled work, with some rest rict ions and (2)  by 

failing to assess the physical and mental demands of plaint iff’s past  relevant  work 

when he determ ined that , based on plaint iff ’s RFC, she could return to that  work. 

A.  Residual Funct ional Capacity  
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Plaint iff alleges that  the ALJ commit ted three errors that  underm ine his 

determ inat ion that  plaint iff has the RFC to perform  light , sem i-skilled work, with 

some rest r ict ions.  According to plaint iff:   (1)  The ALJ failed to cite “some”  medical 

evidence to support  his RFC determ inat ion.  (2)  The ALJ over-credited plaint iff’s 

self-described daily act iv it ies in calculat ing the RFC.  (3)  The ALJ discounted Dr. 

McKinney’s medical source statement  without  j ust if icat ion when he determ ined the 

RFC. 

A claimant ’s RFC is “ the most  a claimant  can st ill do despite his or her 

physical or mental lim itat ions.”   Mart ise v. Ast rue, 641 F.3d 909, 923 (8th Cir. 

2011)  ( internal quotat ions, alterat ion, and citat ions om it ted) .  “The ALJ bears the 

primary responsibilit y for determ ining a claimant ’s RFC and because RFC is a 

medical quest ion, some medical evidence must  support  the determ inat ion of the 

claimant ’s RFC.”   I d.  ( citat ion om it ted) .  The ALJ should obtain medical evidence 

that  addresses the claimant ’s “ability to funct ion in the workplace.”   Lauer v. Apfel, 

245 F.3d 700, 704 (8th Cir . 2001)  (quot ing Nevland v. Apfel, 204 F.3d 853, 858 

(8th Cir. 2000) ) .  “However, the burden of persuasion to prove disability and 

demonst rate RFC remains on the claimant .”   I d.  Even though the RFC assessment 

draws from medical sources for support , it  is ult im ately an adm inist rat ive 

determ inat ion reserved to the Commissioner.  Cox v. Ast rue, 495 F.3d 614, 619 

(8th Cir. 2007)  (cit ing 20 C.F.R. §§ 416.927(e) (2) , 416.946) .  “Because the social 

security disabilit y hearing is non-adversarial, however, the ALJ’s duty to develop 

the record exists independent  of the claimant ’s burden in this case.”   Storm o v. 

Barnhart , 377 F.3d 801, 806 (8th Cir. 2004) . 

1 . Evidence suppor t ing  the RFC f inding  
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Plaint iff contends the ALJ failed to cite “some”  medical evidence that  

reasonably leads to the conclusion that  plaint iff has the RFC to perform  light , sem i-

skilled work.  “Light  work involves lift ing no more than 20 pounds at  a t ime with 

frequent  lift ing or carrying of objects weighing up to 10 pounds.  Even though the 

weight  lifted may be very lit t le, a job is in this category when it  requires a good 

deal of walking or standing, or when it  involves sit t ing most  of the t ime with some 

pushing and pulling of arm  or leg cont rols.”   20 C.F.R. § 416.967(b) .  “Semi-skilled 

work is work which needs some skills but  does not  require doing the more complex 

work dut ies.  Semi- skilled jobs may require alertness and close at tent ion to 

watching machine processes;  or inspect ing, test ing or otherwise looking for  

irregular it ies;  or tending or guarding equipment , property, materials, or persons 

against  loss, damage or injury;  or other types of act ivit ies which are sim ilar ly less 

complex than skilled work, but  more complex than unskilled work.  A job may be 

classified as sem i-skilled where coordinat ion and dexterity are necessary, as when 

hands or feet  must be moved quickly to do repet it ive tasks.”   20 C.F.R. 

§ 404.1568(b) . 

I n her disability applicat ion plaint iff established that  her past  relevant  work 

as a cler ical worker was sem i-skilled work, where she was required to type, answer 

telephones, exam ine m ilitary records, redact  Social Secur ity numbers, search for 

specific documents and copy them, and t ransport  files.  (Tr. 156)   That work was 

also light  work because she would sit  for approximately seven hours out  of an eight  

hour workday, but  she frequent ly lifted up to ten pounds.  I d.  Thus, the record 

before the ALJ was uncontested that  plaint iff had once been capable of perform ing, 

and she did perform , light , sem i-skilled work.  The ALJ then considered the 
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existence and severity of plaint iff’s sym ptoms to determ ine whether she was 

present ly capable of such performance, ult im ately concluding that  plaint iff can st ill 

perform  light , sem i-skilled work, with the rest r ict ions noted above.  (Tr. 16)  

To reach his conclusion that  plaint iff can perform  light ,  sem i-skilled work, the 

ALJ first  found that  plaint iff’s medically determ inable impairments could reasonably 

be expected to cause her alleged symptom s.  (Tr. 18)   Plaint iff alleges no error with 

that  determ inat ion.  Second, however, in evaluat ing the intensity, persistence, and 

lim it ing effects of plaint iff’s symptoms, the ALJ found that  after taking those factors 

into account , plaint iff could st ill perform  light , sem i-skilled work.  I d.  Plaint iff 

alleges the ALJ erred in evaluat ing the lim it ing effects of her symptoms, claim ing 

the ALJ did not  cite any medical evidence to support  his conclusion that  plaint iff has 

the RFC to perform  light , sem i-skilled work.  But  see Lauer , 245 F.3d at  704 

(holding that  “ the burden of persuasion to prove disability and demonst rate RFC 

remains on the claim ant” ) . 

Plaint iff wholly ignores the ALJ’s analysis, which cites substant ial medical and 

other evidence to support  the conclusion that  plaint iff can perform  light , sem i-

skilled work with the noted rest r ict ions.  I n Polaski v. Heckler , 739 F.2d 1320 (8th 

Cir . 1984) , the Eighth Circuit  set  forth factors an ALJ must  consider in evaluat ing 

the credibility of a plaint iff’s test imony and complaints, in addit ion to the object ive 

medical evidence.  These factors include:  

(1)  the claimant ’s daily act iv it ies;  (2)  the durat ion, intensit y, and frequency 
of pain;  (3)  the precipitat ing and aggravat ing factors;  (4)  the dosage, 
effect iveness, and side effects of medicat ion;  (5)  any funct ional rest r ict ions;  
(6)  the claimant ’s work history;  and (7)  the absence of object ive medical 
evidence to support  the claimant ’s complaints. 
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 Moore, 572 F.3d at  524 (cit ing Polaski, 739 F.2d at  1322) .  Moreover, a claimant ’s 

subject ive complaints may be discounted if there are inconsistencies in the record 

as a whole.  20 C.F.R. §§ 404.1529, 416.929;  McKinney v. Apfel, 228 F.3d 860, 

864 (8th Cir. 2000) ;  Polaski, 739 F.2d at  1322;  see Sm ith v. Colvin, 756 F.3d 621, 

625 (8th Cir. 2014)  (explaining that  a court  is to “defer to the ALJ’s evaluat ion of [ a 

claimant ’s]  credibility, provided that  such determ inat ion is supported by good 

reasons and substant ial evidence, even if every factor is not  discussed in depth”  

( internal quotat ion m arks and citat ion om it ted) ) . 

Cont rary to plaint iff’s assert ion, the ALJ considered significant  medical and 

other evidence to determ ine that  plaint iff is capable of perform ing light ,  sem i-skilled 

work.  First , as the ALJ explained, “a review of the record in this case reveals no 

rest r ict ions recommended by any doctor t reat ing [ plaint iff’s]  physical impairments.”   

(Tr. 25)   For that  reason, among others, the ALJ found that  plaint iff’s “statements 

concerning the intensit y, persistence[ ,]  and lim it ing effects of [ her]  symptoms are 

not  credible,”  such that  she retained the RFC to perform  light ,  sem i-skilled work, 

with some rest r ict ions.  (Tr. 18)   Where a plaint iff’s medical records show a lack of 

significant  rest r ict ions imposed by t reat ing physicians, such evidence supports an 

ALJ’s finding of no disability.  See Choate v. Barnhart , 457 F.3d 865, 870 (8th Cir. 

2006) ;  Brown v. Chater , 87 F.3d 963, 965 (8th Cir. 1996) ;  see also 20 C.F.R. §§ 

404.1530, 416.930. 

Furthermore, the ALJ devoted significant  port ion of his well- reasoned analysis 

of plaint iff’s RFC.  The ALJ did not  fail to cite any medical and other evidence;  

rather, he found substant ial evidence that  the RFC was supported by:  

(a)  the claimant ’s own reports of her capabilit ies and daily act ivit ies;  
(b)  the lack of object ive findings in the medical evidence to support  
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such lim itat ions;  (c)  the rout ine and/ or conservat ive t reatment  the 
claimant  received;  (d)  the numerous office visits with var ious doctors 
at  which she did not  enumerate any specific complaint ;  (e)  the 
successful t reatment  through medicat ions and physical therapy for her 
physical impairments;  ( f)  the t reatment  notes from Dr. McKinney 
indicat ing she was improving and that  her prognosis was good at  
vir tually every counseling appointment ;  and[ ]  (g)  the absence of any 
physical rest r ict ions [ or]  lim itat ions from any of the claim ant ’s t reat ing 
physicians. 

(Tr. 25)   Those findings, which are supported by the ALJ’s thorough analysis, 

establish that  substant ial evidence exists that  plaint iff has the RFC to perform  light ,  

sem i-skilled work, with the noted rest r ict ions.  Therefore, the ALJ did not  err by 

failing to cite sufficient  evidence to support  the RFC determ inat ion. 

2 . Daily Act iv it ies  

Plaint iff next  contends that  the ALJ’s assessment  of her RFC was erroneous 

because, in her v iew, the ALJ did not  art iculate how plaint iff’s extensive daily 

act iv it ies equate to the ability to work in full- t ime employment .  But  plaint iff again 

m isconst rues the ALJ’s analysis.  First ,  the ALJ never said that  plaint iff’s daily 

act iv it ies alone were sufficient  to determ ine that  she is capable of perform ing light  

work.  Rather, as Pulaski and its progeny inst ruct , the ALJ considered plaint iff’s 

extensive daily act iv it ies along with the medical and other evidence to reach his 

determ inat ion that  plaint iff can perform  light , sem i-skilled work.  See Steed v. 

Ast rue, 524 F.3d 872, 876 (8th Cir. 2008)  (cit ing Pulaski and holding that  an ALJ 

may find that  a claim ant ’s credibilit y is dim inished by inconsistencies between her 

daily act iv it ies and her alleged lim itat ions) . 

Second, the ALJ’s assessment that  plaint iff’s daily act iv it ies suggest  she is 

not  disabled was not  erroneous.  That  is so because, in determ ining plaint iff could 

perform  light  work, the ALJ could properly consider the fact  that  plaint iff prepares 
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her own meals, takes medicat ion and grooms herself without  rem inders, washes 

dishes, irons clothes, changes bed linens, dr ives, cares for her grandchildren, 

manages her f inances without  assistance, uses Facebook, visits her sister, and 

at tends the YMCA almost  daily.  (Tr. 146–49) ;  see McCoy v. Ast rue, 648 F.3d 605, 

614 (8th Cir. 2011) ;  Medhaug v. Ast rue, 578 F.3d 805, 817 (8th Cir. 2009)  ( “ [ A] cts 

such as cooking, vacuuming, washing dishes, doing laundry, shopping, dr iv ing, and 

walking, are inconsistent  with subject ive complaints of disabling pain.” ) ;  Roberson 

v. Ast rue, 481 F.3d 1020, 1025 (8th Cir.  2007)  ( finding that  caring for a child, 

dr iv ing, f ix ing simple meals, doing housework, and shopping are “extensive daily 

act iv it ies”  that  did not  support  the claimant ’s alleged inability to work) .  Therefore, 

the ALJ’s considerat ion of plaint iff’s daily act iv it ies was not  error, and the RFC 

formulated in part  on that  basis is not  legally deficient .  

3 . Dr . McKinney ’s m edical s ource statem ent  

Plaint iff asserts that  the ALJ erred when he accorded no weight  to Dr. 

McKinney’s August  20, 2012, medical source statement .  (Tr. 24–25, 534–39)   Dr. 

McKinney was plaint iff’s exam ining and t reat ing psychologist .  Generally, the 

Commissioner gives more weight  to the opinion of a source who has examined a 

claimant  than a source who has not .  20 C.F.R. § 419.927(c) (1) .  When the t reat ing 

physician’s opinion is supported by proper medical test ing, and is not  inconsistent  

with other substant ial evidence in the record, the ALJ must give the opinion 

cont rolling weight .  Anderson v. Ast rue, 696 F.3d 790, 793 (8th Cir . 2012)  (cit ing 

20 C.F.R. § 404.1527(c) (2) ) .  An examining physician’s opinion, however, neither 

inherent ly or automat ically has cont rolling weight  and “does not  obviate the need to 
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evaluate the record as a whole.”   Cline v. Colvin, 771 F.3d 1098, 1103 (8th Cir.  

2014)  ( internal quotat ions and citat ions om it ted) . 

“An ALJ may discount  or even disregard the opinion of a t reat ing physician 

where other medical assessments are supported by bet ter or more thorough 

medical evidence, or where a t reat ing physician renders inconsistent  opinions that  

underm ine the credibilit y of such opinions.”   Wildm an v. Ast rue, 596 F.3d 959, 964 

(8th Cir. 2010)  ( internal quotat ion om it ted) .  Moreover, “ [ a] n ALJ is ent it led to give 

less weight  to the opinion of a t reat ing doctor where the doctor’s opinion is based 

largely on the plaint iff’s subject ive complaints rather than on object ive medical 

evidence.”   Rosa v. Ast rue, 708 F. Supp. 2d 941, 950 (E.D. Mo. 2010) ;  see also 

Davis v. Shalala, 31 F.3d 753, 756 (8th Cir.  1994) ;  Loving v. Dep’t  Health & Hum an 

Serv., 16 F.3d 967, 971 (8th Cir. 1994) .  An ALJ may not  subst itute his own 

opinions for the opinions of medical professionals.  Ness v. Sullivan, 904 F.2d 432, 

435 (8th Cir . 1990) ;  see also Pate-Fires, 564 F.3d at  946–47 ( inst ruct ing that  ALJs 

may not  “play doctor” ) .  However, an ALJ “need not  adopt  the opinion of a 

physician on the ult imate issue of a claimant ’s ability to engage in substant ial 

gainful employment .”   Qualls v. Apfel,  158 F.3d 425, 428 (8th Cir . 1998)  ( internal 

quotat ions and citat ions om it ted) .  Ult imately, the ALJ must  “give good reasons”  to 

explain the weight  given the t reat ing physician’s opinion.  20 C.F.R. 

§ 404.1527(c) (2) .  But , of course, an ALJ is not  required to discuss in detail every 

item of evidence.  Morrison v. Apfel, 146 F.3d 625, 628 (8th Cir. 1998) . 

Plaint iff asserts that  the ALJ erred by failing to explain his reasons for not  

giv ing any weight  to Dr. McKinney’s medical source statement.  The assert ion is 

cont radicted by the opinion in which nearly a full page is devoted to analyzing Dr. 
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McKinney’s medical source statement  and explaining the ALJ’s reasons for giv ing it  

no weight .  (Tr. 24–25)   Among the ALJ’s reasons for discredit ing the opinion was 

that  Dr. McKinney “ relied quite heavily on the subject ive report  of symptoms and 

lim itat ions provided by the claimant , and seemed to uncrit ically accept  as t rue 

most , if not  all, of what  the claimant  reported.”   (Tr. 24)   That  was an acceptable 

reason to discount  the source statement .  See Rosa, 708 F. Supp. 2d at  950. 

Moreover, the ALJ referred to his previously-art iculated reasons for 

discount ing plaint iff’s subject ive complaints as a basis for discount ing Dr. 

McKinney’s reliance on those subject ive complaints and, thus, giv ing her source 

statement  no weight .  See Sm ith, 756 F.3d at  625;  20 C.F.R. § 404.1527(c) (2) .  

Also, the ALJ explained that  Dr. McKinney’s source statement  appeared to be 

inconsistent  with her t reatment  notes.  (Tr. 24–25)   Her notes failed to reveal 

“significant  clinical and laboratory abnormalit ies,”  and they evinced a conservat ive 

course of t reatment  in which plaint iff was never prescribed psychot ropic 

medicat ions, she was consistent ly noted to be “ improving,”  and her prognosis was 

“good.”   I d.  Such internal inconsistencies ent it led the ALJ to accord no weight  to 

Dr. McKinney’s source statement .  See Wildm an, 596 F.3d at  964.   

Furthermore, the ALJ did not  err in giv ing some weight  to Dr. McKinney’s 

t reatment  records from plaint iff’s therapy sessions while at  the same t ime giving no 

weight  to Dr. McKinney’s conclusions in the medical source statement  which were 

inconsistent  with those records.  An “ALJ is not  required to rely ent irely on a 

part icular physician’s opinion,”  Mart ise, 641 F.3d at  927, and “an appropr iate 

finding of inconsistency with other evidence alone is sufficient  to discount  [ an]  

opinion.”   Goff, 421 F.3d at  790–91.  Finally, to the extent  that  Dr. McKinney’s 
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source statement  can be read to suggest  that  plaint iff cannot  work, that  quest ion is 

outside Dr. McKinney’s expert ise and is reserved to the Commissioner.  See Qualls, 

158 F.3d at  428. 

B.  Past  Relevant  W ork  

Plaint iff addit ionally contends that  the ALJ erred at  step four of the sequent ial 

evaluat ion process because he did not  conduct  a funct ion-by- funct ion analysis of 

plaint iff’s past  relevant  work.  I .e., the ALJ did not  make explicit  findings concerning 

the physical and mental demands of plaint iff’s past  relevant  work as required by 

SSR 82-62 and by Pfit zner v. Apfel, 169 F.3d 566 (8th Cir.  1999) . 

“An ALJ may find the claimant  able to perform  past  relevant  work if the 

claimant  retains the ability to perform  the funct ional requirements of the job as she 

actually performed it  or as generally required by employers in the nat ional 

economy.”   Sam ons v. Ast rue, 497 F.3d 813, 821 (8th Cir.  2007) .  To that  end, the 

Social Securit y Administ rat ion’s regulat ions mandate that , where “we cannot  make 

a determ inat ion or decision at  the first  three steps of the sequent ial evaluat ion 

process, we will compare our [ RFC]  assessment  . . . with the physical and mental 

demands of your past  relevant  work.”   20 C.F.R. §§ 404.1520( f) , 416.920( f) .  

The Administ rat ion’s own interpretat ion of its regulat ions provides that :   “The 

decision as to whether the claim ant  retains the funct ional capacity to perform  past  

work . . . must  be developed and explained fully in the disabilit y decision.”   SSR 82-

62, 1982 WL 31386, at  * 3.  “Adequate documentat ion of past  work includes factual 

informat ion about  those work demands which have a bear ing on the medically 

established lim itat ions.  Detailed informat ion about  st rength, endurance, 

manipulat ive abilit y, mental demands and other job requirements must  be obtained 
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as appropriate.”   I d.  

Commensurate with those regulat ions, the Eighth Circuit  requires that , in 

addit ion to determ ining a plaint iff’s RFC, at  step four of the sequent ial evaluat ion 

process, “ [ t ] he ALJ must  also make explicit  f indings regarding the actual physical 

and mental demands of the claimant ’s past  work.”   Pfitzner , 169 F.3d at  569 

(quot ing Groeper v. Sullivan, 932 F.2d 1234, 1239 (8th Cir. 1991) ) .  An ALJ may 

obtain informat ion from the claimant  or the claimant ’s past  employer “as to the 

physical and mental demands of her posit ion”  as it  was actually performed.  Kirby 

v. Sullivan, 923 F.2d 1323, 1327 (8th Cir . 1991) ;  see 20 C.F.R. §§ 404.1565(b) , 

416.965(b) .  Alternat ively, “ [ t ] he ALJ may discharge this duty by referr ing to the 

specific j ob descript ions in the Dict ionary of Occupat ional Tit les that  are associated 

with the claimant ’s past  work.”   Pfitzner , 169 F.3d at  569.  “The ALJ may also rely 

on vocat ional expert  test imony to fulf ill this obligat ion.”   Jam es v. Ast rue, No. 4: 07-

CV-1382-HEA-DDN, 2008 WL 4204712, at  * 10 (E.D. Mo. Sept . 8, 2008) ;  see 20 

C.F.R. § 404.1560(b) (2) . 

Furthermore, the Eighth Circuit  has explained that , following an analysis of 

the demands of a claimant ’s past  work, “ the ALJ should compare the claimant ’s 

[ RFC]  with the actual demands of the past  work to determ ine whether the claimant  

is capable of perform ing the relevant  tasks.”   Groeper , 932 F.2d at  1238–39 

(citat ions om it ted) .  “A conclusory determ inat ion that  the claimant  can perform  past  

work, without  these findings, does not  const itute substant ial evidence that  the 

claimant  is able to return to his past  work.”   I d. at  1239 (citat ions om it ted) ;  see 

also I ngram  v. Chater , 107 F.3d 598, 605 (8th Cir. 1997) .  “The ALJ’s failure to 

fulf ill this obligat ion requires reversal.”   Groeper , 932 F.2d at  1238. 
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Here, the ALJ made the following finding with regard to plaint iff’s ability to 

return to her past  relevant  work:   “ I n comparing the claimant ’s [ RFC]  with the 

physical and mental demands of [ her past  relevant ]  work, the undersigned finds 

that  the claimant  was able to perform  it  as actually and generally performed.”   (Tr. 

25)   The ALJ did not  make any specific findings about  the physical and mental 

demands of plaint iff’s past  relevant  work as she performed it .  The ALJ likewise did 

not  cite to the Dict ionary of Occupat ional Tit les to detail the physical and mental 

demands of that  work as it  is generally performed.  Nor did the ALJ engage a 

vocat ional expert  to test ify about  the physical and mental demands of that  posit ion.  

Finally, having not  art iculated those demands, the ALJ provided no more than a 

“conclusory determ inat ion”  that  he had compared plaint iff’s RFC to the physical and 

mental demands of her past  relevant  work.  Groeper , 932 F.2d at  1239.  The ALJ’s 

failure to art iculate the physical and mental demands of plaint iff’s past  relevant  

work and to compare those demands with plaint iff’s RFC was therefore error.  I d. at  

1238. 

The Commissioner argues that  the ALJ’s failure to perform  the required 

analysis was harm less error, because at  step four plaint iff has the burden to prove 

disability.  See Bat t les v. Sullivan, 902 F.2d 657, 659 (8th Cir . 1990)  (quot ing SSR 

82-62, and holding that  if the record contains substant ial evidence that  a claimant  

can perform  her past  work, the ALJ’s failure to develop the past  work record in full 

detail does not  require remand) ;  see also Owen v. Ast rue, 551 F.3d 792, 801 (8th 

Cir . 2008)  (holding that  “an arguable deficiency in opinion-wr it ing technique does 

not  require us to set  aside an administ rat ive finding when that  deficiency had no 

bearing on the outcome”  (quotat ion marks and citat ion om it ted) ) ;  Kirby , 923 F.2d 
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at  1326 (acknowledging that  a claimant  bears the burden of demonst rat ing that  she 

cannot  return to her past  relevant  work, but  also explaining that  an ALJ is required 

to “ fully invest igate and to make explicit  f indings regarding the actual physical [ and 

mental]  demands”  of that  work) . 

The error was not  harm less in this case.  Again, the ALJ did not  detail the 

physical and mental demands of plaint iff’s past  relevant  work.  He said only that  

she had worked “ reproducing m ilitary records.”   (Tr. 24)   Yet , the ALJ determ ined 

that  plaint iff’s major depression and panic disorder were severe impairments.  (Tr. 

14)   He also found that  plaint iff suffered from moderate difficult ies with social 

funct ioning, concent rat ion, persistence, and pace.  (Tr. 15)   The ALJ addit ionally 

found that  plaint iff’s severe impairments could reasonably be expected to cause her 

alleged symptoms, e.g., an inability to maintain concent rat ion.  (Tr. 18)   And 

though the ALJ gave no weight  to Dr. McKinney’s medical source statement  (Tr. 

24–25) , the ALJ elsewhere at  least  part ially credited Dr. McKinney’s analysis of 

plaint iff’s mental impairments, basing the RFC in part  on the fact  that  plaint iff’s 

symptoms were “ improving.”   (Tr. 25)   Thus, the ALJ found plaint iff has at  least  

some mental impairments, which must  be accounted for in determ ining whether 

she can perform  her past  relevant  work. 

Moreover, the ALJ confusingly wrote on one hand that  plaint iff “was let  go 

because she could not  make her product ion”  and on the other hand that  she 

“stopped working due to a business- related layoff.”  (Tr. 24)   The ALJ concluded that  

plaint iff was perform ing her job “adequately,”  but  he did not  account  for the mental 

demands of plaint iff ’s posit ion.  Those unart iculated demands, coupled with 

plaint iff’s severe mental impairments and moderate diff iculty with concent rat ion, 
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persistence, and pace, may explain why she could not  make her product ion quota 

and was term inated.  While the ALJ found that  plaint iff’s term inat ion was not  

related to any disabling impairments, that  f inding is quest ionable absent  any 

reference to the specific mental demands of the job. 

Because the ALJ failed to art iculate the mental demands for comparison with 

the impairments the ALJ recognized, the error was not  harm less.  The ALJ’s error 

was also not  harm less because plaint iff’s self-described work- related tasks included 

act iv it ies that  m ight  require significant  concent rat ion, persistence, and pace, which 

must  be accounted for.  Therefore, the Court  must  reverse the ALJ’s decision and 

remand the case.  See Groeper , 932 F.2d at  1238. 

VI . Conclusion  

For the reasons discussed above, the Court  f inds that  the Commissioner’s 

decision is not  supported by substant ial evidence in the record as a whole. 

Accordingly, 

I T I S HEREBY ORDERED that  the decision of the Commissioner is 

reversed  and the mat ter is rem and ed  pursuant  to the fourth sentence of 42 

U.S.C. § 405(g)  for further proceedings. 
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